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S T R A T E G I C  I N T E N T

“Accessible safe blood used right”

To be an effective and innovative provider 
of safe blood products that meet national 

requirements and international 
standards.

O R G A N I S A T I O N A L   V I S I O N

To save lives through the provision of blood 
and blood products that meet customer 

expectations.
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Professionalism

Behaviours: We uphold the highest professional and 
ethical standards. We get things done and continually 
enhance our competencies and go beyond the call of 
duty. We are exemplary in the way we do business.  

Empathy

Behaviours: We care and respond to the needs and 
expectations of our stakeholders. We communicate 
effectively and engage our community and share our 
cause with passion. We care for our environment and 
value all our assets.
 

Conscientiousness

Behaviours: We are responsible, diligent and pay 
attention to detail. We are committed to the highest 
operational, safety and quality standards. 

Teamwork

Behaviours: We value every member of our 
community and we keep our value chain intact and 
delivering. We develop positive, collaborative and 

growing relationships with our stakeholders. We take 
ownership and collective responsibility. 

QUALITY POLICY
National Blood Service Zimbabwe (NBSZ) is 
committed to saving lives through innovative and 
effective provision of safe blood and blood products 
that meet customer expectations and comply with 
national and international standards.
In order to realise this commitment, NBSZ shall 
undertake to achieve the following goals: -

- Implement and continually improve a Quality       
  Management System (QMS) based on ISO     
  9001:2008
- Establish and review quality objectives, which are     
  related to this policy.
- Promote the development of human capital.
- Increase accessibility and consistency of safe  
  blood products.
- Enhance marketing; branding; blood donor and  
  customer service. 
- Enhance financial management and funding mix.
- Increase organisational effectiveness, performance  
  and promote research.

This quality policy, objectives and the QMS as a 
whole shall be reviewed continually in response to 
changes in our operational environments.

SHARED VALUES AND BEHAVIOURS
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Introduction
The 2013 financial year period proved to be very 
challenging for the Service and for most other 
businesses operating in Zimbabwe.  Almost every 
business faced liquidity challenges, with many failing 
to service their debts and some having to retrench 
workers.

Despite the economic challenges that it had, the 
Service continued to consolidate its service delivery.  
It recorded a deficit of US$1 385 281 in 2013, 
having shown a profit of $800 806 in the previous 
year.  The deficit is mainly due to donors not meeting 
their pledges.  Out of the $500 000 allocated for 
blood and blood products on the Ministry of Health 
& Child Care budget, only $100 000 (20%) of the 
amount was paid to the Service.  The Service provided 
Government and mission hospitals with blood and 
blood products at $80 per unit throughout the year.  
The National Aids Council paid the Service less than 
half of what they had committed to for the year.  The 
CDC donation for the PEPFAR Project was $620 789 
in 2013, whereas in 2012 it was  $1 836 380.  No 
donation was received from UNICEF (in 2012 it was 
$299 592).  In 2012 the Service received donations 
and grants amounting to $3 181 950 and showed 
a surplus at the end of the year amounting to $800 
806.  In 2013, the donations and grants received 

amounted to $1 009 686.  Revenue at $4 456 217 
increased by 4%; this is due to an increase of blood 
user fees during the last quarter of the year.  The 
distribution of blood and blood products over the 
same period increased by 2.1%.  

Blood Collections and 
Distribution
Blood collection decreased significantly with 56 
958 units collected in 2013 compared to 81 779 
units in 2012. The reduction was due to a decrease 
in demand. 19% of the units collected came from 
static clinics whilst 81% came from mobile teams.  
All Branches recorded significant decreases. Donor 
incentives still remain a major challenge, due to the 
perennial cash flow problems. 84% of collections 
were in wet packs and 16% were in dry packs.

HIV seropositivity went down from 0.55% to 0.47%. 
HBV declined from 0.69% to 0.61%.  HCV declined 
from 0.18 to 0.01% and syphilis declined from 
0.67% to 0.03%.

Blood distribution saw an increase of 0.7 % from 53 
808 packs to 54 184 packs.  This marginal increase 
is due to depressed demand due to the harsh 
economic conditions.

World Blood Donor Day commemoration was held at 
Mutendi High School in Masvingo Province. Net-One 
maintained its sponsorship of the Provincial School 
Blood Donor Shield Award by donating prizes for the 
winning school in each Province. Net-One introduced 
an award for the overall National winner which went 
to John Tallach High School in Matebeleland North. 

A total of 103 donors received awards for attaining 
the set milestones in blood donations.    The Youth 
Donor Months blood collections remained healthy 
during the tough period.

Corporate Governance
National Blood Service Zimbabwe is committed to 
the highest standards of corporate governance and it 
subscribes to the principles of corporate governance 
enshrined in the King III Report.  Four Board 
meetings were conducted in 2013, as well as Board 
induction and Board evaluation meetings

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Retired Justice L G smith  
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Board of Directors

The Board currently consists of 2 directors from each 
of the 5 Branches and 4 directors appointed for their 
specific qualifications.

Board Procedures

The Board has quarterly meetings and, when 
necessary, a special ad hoc meeting is convened.  
Appropriate information is given to directors to enable 
them to discharge their responsibilities effectively.  
The Board is responsible for the overall direction of 
the Service.  Authority for implementing policies is 
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer.

Awards

National Blood Service through the Bulawayo Branch 
Manager Mr Mawere Nashford Muchineuta received 
the Team Builder of the Year Award at the Bulawayo 
Megafest Business Awards. MEGAFEST is a business 
consultancy organisation.

Financial Statement Analysis

The performance of the Service in 2013 was affected 
by the harsh economic environment characterized by 
a liquidity crunch. Turnover amounted to $6 355 958 
and there was a net loss of $1 385 181. Total Assets 
amounted to $4 710 226. Receivables amounted to                                    
$1 760 598 and Payables amounted to $2 183 566.

Revenue

Revenue from operations increased by 4%. This is 
attributed to an increase in the blood user fees in 
the last quarter.  Donations and grants declined by 
68% due to decreased support by traditional funding 
partners and the failure by some to meet their 
commitment.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses decreased by 4.7% due to the 
decrease in blood collections, which decreased by 
17.6%. Efforts are being made to improve relations 
with our suppliers so that we can get back the 
beneficial relationship that previously existed.

Statement of Financial position and 
cash flow

Total assets declined by 17%. This is attributed 
to the decrease in both current and non-current 
assets. Cash flow from operating activities decreased 
by 153% from $84 547 to $(45 146) due to the 
decrease in current assets and the operational loss 
incurred.

Projects

I am happy to announce that our application for 
the continuation of the PEPFAR year 5 funding was 
submitted by Management and it is hoped that it will 
be approved.

Appreciation

I would like to express my appreciation to the 
Minister of Health and Child Care and his Ministry 
for their continued support. My gratitude also goes 
to donors such as the National Aids Council for the 
procurement of test kits  for transfusion transmissible 
infections screening and CDC/PEPFAR for funding 
Blood Safety Project in Zimbabwe. 

I would also like to express my gratitude to my fellow 
directors for the collective efforts and dedication 
to the business of NBSZ and to all stakeholders, 
Management and staff of the Service for their 
commitment and the continued provision of safe 
blood from vein to vein for those who need it.

Retired Justice L G smith
Chairman  
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The Board currently consists of 17 directors with 
diverse business experience. Of these 17 members, 
there are 14 non-executive directors, including 
the Chairman. The Board meets at least 4 times a 
year and more frequently as and when a business 
requirement dictates. Appropriate information is 
given to directors to enable them to effectively 
discharge their responsibilities. The Board is 
responsible for the overall direction of National Blood 
Service Zimbabwe.  Authority for implementing 
policies is delegated to the Chief Executive Officer. 
There are three board committees which are Audit 
and Finance Committee, Human Resource and 

Remuneration and Medical and Risk Compliance. 
The Audit and Finance committee oversee the 
adequacy of internal controls and the integrity of 
the organisation’s accounting, financial, information 
management systems and risk management. The 
Human Resources and Remuneration Committee 
oversee the Human Resources strategy and policies 
of NBSZ. The Medical and Risk Compliance it iss 
responsible for ensuring that NBSZ is fully compliant 
with all legal and regulatory duties pertaining to 
its operations. It ensures all material risks to the 
service objectives are understood and appropriately 
addressed.

Board of Directors and Board Procedures 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board Attendances
The board members are expected to demonstrate their commitment by attending all meetings. Each board 
member is obliged to attend a minimum of 4 meetings per year. For year 2013, there were four (4) board 
meetings held and the board attendances were as follows:

Name    Title/ position    Number Attended

 Retired Justice L G smith  Chairman      4
 T Chadebah   Vice Chairman      4
 S Bulle    Bulawayo Branch Committee Chairman  3
 Engineer J Njunga  Mutare  Branch Committee Chairman  4
 N Mlauzi   Gweru Branch Committee Chairman   3
 E Mugamu   Harare Branch Committee    4
 R Ganga-Raju   Bulawayo Branch Committee   4
 D Tandiri   Mutare Branch     3
 T Chikohora   Gweru Branch     4
 M Nyagumbo   Masvingo Branch Committee   3
 D Mvere    CEO      4
 L  Mlambo   Zimbabwe Red Cross    1
 L  Mabandi   Ministry of Health & Child Care   2
 Professor A  Mandisodza  Co-opted Member     2
 Dr L  Mantiziba   Ministry of Health & Child Care   3
 Dr J Emmanuel   Medical Director     2
 Z Musekiwa   Board Secretary (Finance and Adminstration Manager)  4



B. Worker’s Committee  

1. Harare       Mr. A Wafawarova
2. Bulawayo       Mr. A Moyo  
3. Gweru       Mr. C. Hove
4. Mutare      Mr. J. Masamba
5. Masvingo       Mr. N Kanongwere 

Judith Parirewa 
Medical Services 

Manager

 Lucy Marowa
Safety Health 

Environment Quality 
Manager

Esther Massundah
Public Affairs Manager

David Mvere 
Chief Executive Officer

Collins Mitala
Labaratory   

Services Manager

Tonderai Mapako
Planning, Information 
and Research Manager

Nashford Muchineuta
Bulawayo 

Branch Manager

A. Executive Committee

Zamile Musekiwa
Finance & 

Administration Manager

Dr Jean C. Emmanuel 
Medical Director
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The Service has responded to 
recent challenges and changes 
in the social and financial 
environment, restructuring 
the organogram and lines of 
responsibility to ensure a more 
effective response to its clients, 
in order to meet its mission, 
which is: “To save lives through 
the provision of blood and blood 
products that meet customer 
expectations”.

The changes, which have 
been effected, have been to 
place Medical Services and 
Laboratory Services under the 
direct responsibility of the 
Medical Director. This move 
has strengthened and improved 

the efficiency and synergies of 
complementary departments. In 
addition, it has also provided an 
opportunity to re-examine practices 
and policies in these departments, 
as they relate to the blood donor 
department’s mandate and those 
of the laboratory services. The 
combination of these endeavours 
is leading to an improvement in 
quality and output in the provision 
of services and relationships with 
clinicians and hospital authorities. 

The mandate of the office of 
the Medical Director is to report 
to the National Committee 
Chairman and his Board and 
provide leadership, management, 
vision and effective co-ordination 
in all areas of work under his 
designated responsibility. 
Since being appointed Medical 
Director, in September 2013, 
a systematic review of standard 
operating procedures (SOPs), 
policies, guidelines and working 
environment, has been under 
taken. The purpose of these 
actions has been to examine 
and reappraise all areas of 
responsibility of the post, from 
infrastructure to meeting planned 
targets and introduce new 
methodologies and techniques.  
Appropriate actions have been 
implemented, whether in the 
form of revision of guidelines 
and SOPs; updating of practices 
and procedures; improving 
documentation and record 
keeping; liaising with clinicians 

and hospital authorities; training 
and capacity building of clinicians, 
scientists and nurses; through 
to organising rehabilitation, 
replacement and refurbishment of 
devices and equipment required 
for maintaining quality of products 
and clinical care of staff and blood 
donors.

Evaluation is on going to determine 
techniques and mechanisms of 
alternate and more cost effective 
methods to improve the delivery of 
care of blood donors and work of 
the departments of medical and 
laboratory services which include: 
improving methods to determine 
haemoglobin levels in the 
selection of blood donors; effective 
sterilisation of venepuncture 
sites; validating time temperature 
monitors for blood cold chain; 
ensuring essential maintenance 
of refrigeration equipment; field 
testing of simple rapid method 
for screening blood donor blood 
groups and rhesus factors, which 
will assist in developing strategies 
to target rarer blood types in 
greater demand. Innovative 
methods and strategies will be 
developed to maximise scarce 
resources and save unnecessary 
waste of blood bags and expiry 
of blood units by selective blood 
donor recruitment and collection 
from targeted universal blood 
types and rhesus negative blood 
donors.

MEDICAL DIRECTOR’S 
REPORT

2013ANNUAL REPORT

Dr J Emmanuel
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Therapeutic Bleeding of blood 
donors who are referred to NBSZ for 
management of their therapeutic 
bleeding treatment regime, has 
been revised to address both 
patient and referring clinician’s 
needs. Therapeutic patients 
with some medical conditions, 
are suitable to have their blood 
used for transfusion and are 
now offered the opportunity to 
be placed on the regular 
blood donor panel, if all other 
conditions meet the guidelines 
of blood donor assessment. This 
additional source of blood is an 
added benefit to the bloodstocks. 
Each Therapeutic Patient has 
an individual file with detailed 
information on their specific 
bleeding program, which is closely 
monitored by following their 
clinical condition, medication and 
laboratory results.informing them 
of the progress and management 
of their respective patients, with 
copies of all investigations.

The Service has a history of 
providing Apheresis for specific 
conditions, which vary from 
potential antibodies that are 
formed within the body and can 
lead to harmful effects for the 
patient, such as Guillain Barré 
Syndrome, or other conditions, 
resulting in an excess of auto-
antibodies or over production of 
their wise normal cells, in order 
to reduce the effects of these 
antibodies, or cells, by diluting 
and removing the cells, and the 
plasma in which they circulate. 
The Medical Services staff and 

the apheresis equipment move 
to the respective hospitals and 
carry out apheresis procedures at 
the bedside, usually on several 
or more repeated occasions, 
depending on the severity of the 
condition. However, due to lack 
of finance to repair, maintain and 
purchase essential equipment, 
this facility is presently only 
available in Harare. 

The same equipment is used 
to harvest normal platelets, by 
platelet-apheresis, which method 
collects the specific cells in an 
amount equivalent to at least 4 to 5 
individual donations, thus making 
the concentration of these cells 
more acceptable as they are from 
one source, a dedicated Apheresis 
Donor, specially selected for this 
purpose. Maintenance and the 
disposable apheresis packs, as 
well as the diluting fluids and 
human albumin, necessary for the 
procedures are expensive and are 
normal purchased from external 
suppliers. The funds for each 
apheresis procedure are recovered 
and budgeted for the replacement 
and necessary maintenance of the 
equipment and purchase of the 
materials and diluents fluids in 
order to ensure that the service is 
sustainable and provide for clients 
needs.

A number of important and 
extensive Manuals and Guidelines 
have been re-written, revised and 
the drafts circulated for comments, 
suggestions and re-writing. These 
include the Handbook on Clinical 

Use of Blood; Guidelines on Blood 
Donor Assessment; preparation 
of numerous lectures on Clinical 
Transfusion, which have been 
burned onto CD’s for distribution 
at the Workshops on Training of 
Health Care Workers, held in the 
respective cities and provinces for 
clinicians, scientists and nurses.
The financial crisis continues to 
be challenging to the Service, 
hospitals and especially to 
patients. This results in the Service 
being unable to replace aging 
equipment, purchase essential 
equipment such as defibrillators 
for the donor clinic, which 
should be standard equipment 
for resuscitation in the rare event 
of an adverse cardiac event, 
especially with apheresis and 
bleeding patients for therapeutic 
reasons, who may have cardiac, 
respiratory or due to age and other 
medical conditions.

Finally, the effectiveness 
and viability of the NBSZ is 
inextricably linked to the ability 
of public sector responsibility 
patients being able to access 
appropriate health care provision 
in all Government Hospitals, 
which in turn have sustainable 
fiscal budgets for providing 
health care. Until the recurrent 
agreed service fees for providing 
blood and blood components are 
met, the safety, adequacy and 
accessibility of blood products will 
only be attainable, as a limited 
service, to the public sector and 
to private sector clients, mainly 
through funded health care 
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PROFILE 

After an illustrious career filled with great 
achievements, Dr. McLEOD Chitiyo retired 
from the National Blood Service Zimbabwe as 
Medical Director in year 2013. He had served in 
this capacity since 1989. Though Dr. Chitiyo is 
of a humble nature he has had a very successful 
career, his influence and activities radiating 
widely in the communities of Zimbabwe and 
Malawi. 

A co-founder of CIMAS Medical Laboratories, 
which now offer a wide range of diagnostic 
services in the country, Dr. Chitiyo has emerged 
as one of the most prominent Medical Doctors 
in Zimbabwe.  

Dr. McLEOD Chitiyo was born on the 20th of 
November 1932 at Old Mutare Mission. He 
did his Primary Education in Mbare Township 
(Harare) and attended his Secondary Education 
at Adams College, in Natal, South Africa. He is 
married and blessed with two children, a son 
who used to be a lecturer at the University of 
Zimbabwe but is now settled in London. Dr 
Chitiyo’s daughter is a lawyer practicing in 
Harare.  Dr. Chitiyo fellowships at the Methodist 
Church.

In 1961 he was employed as House Officer, 
at Harare Government Hospital. In 1962 to 
1963 he was a Government Medical Officer at 
Port Herald (now Nsanje) in Nyasaland (now 
Malawi). In early 1964 after the collapse of the 
Federation he returned to Zimbabwe where he 
was temporarily In-Charge of Harare Maternity 
Hospital. During the same year, (1964) in 
August he was transferred to Ndanga Hospital 
in Masvingo where he worked as the District 
Medical Officer. 

In September of 1967 he moved back to Harare 
Hospital where he worked as Hospital Medical 
Officer (Pathology) until August 1970. From 
September of 1970 to 1971 he was at Royal 
Post-graduate Medical School, in London where 
he attained the Diploma in Clinical pathology 
(D.C.P.) of the University of London and the 
Diploma in Pathology (D. Path) of theRoyal 
College of Physicians and Surgeons, England.

In 1972 he worked briefly as a Government 
Pathologist at Mpilo Hospital but was transferred 
to the  Harare Hospital laboratory. He was also 
an Honorary Lecturer in Pathology, University of 
Zimbabwe. In 1975 he became a partner in a 
fairly new Pathology Medical Laboratories. The 

laboratories are now owned by Cimas Medical 
Aid Society.
From 1989 to 2013 he served at the National 
Blood Service Zimbabwe where he was the 
Medical Director until his retirement.  

Corporate Bodies Representation & 
Business Association

• Chairman, National AIDS Council (1990-1992)
• Adviser, Cancer Association of Zimbabwe (1985 to  
   2013)
• Former president, National Association of Medical  
   laboratory Technologists
• Former Committee Member, New York Academy of  
   Sciences
• Member, Zimbabwe Medical Association (1980 to  
   2013)
• Board Member, Avenues Clinic Harare (1984 to   
   2013)
• Trustee, AIDS Counseling Trust (1992)

Community Service & Association

• Member, Rotary Club of Harare (1979 to      
   2013)
• Radio Doctor, (1968 – 1990)
• Member, Harare Club

PUBLICATIONS

*A case of Congenital Erythroid Hypoplasia       
  in an African Infant
*The MN, P. Kell and Duffy blood group.      
  Systems of the Zezuru Tribe of Rhodesia,     
  Central African Journal of Medicine, Vol.     
  17, No. 10, October 1971.
* Cancer of the Oesophagus in Central Africa,  
  CHEST Vol. 61, June 1972.
*Schistosomal involvement of the Choroid  
  Plexus, Central African Journal of Medicine,  
  Vol. 18, No.3, March 1972.
*Primary Osteogenic  Sarcoma of the Urinary       
  Bladder, Journal of Pathology, Vol. III, 1973.
*Effects of measles on the Intra-epithelial  
  lymphocyte count of malnourished children,  
  South African Medical Journal, Vol. 48, 21,     
  December 1974.

In addition to such a workaholic kind of life, Dr 
Chitiyo suprisingly has a social life. During his 
spare time he enjoys hobbies like singing and 
playing music as well as playing and watching 
tennis.

NATIONAL BLOOD SERVICE 
ZIMBABWE BIDS FAREWELL 
TO DR McLEOD CHITIYO
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The NBSZ remains functional and has largely managed 
to meet its mandate to provide safe blood to all in 
need, countrywide. The primary challenge remains 
that of a secure financial resource as the cost recovery 
model of funding NBSZ has been challenged by the 
financial constraints prevailing in the public sector, 
the main consumer of blood and blood products. This 
situation has been further compromised by the low 
resource partner support that has been reducing over 
the last 3 years. Consequently the NBSZ has carried 
over an unbearable debt into the 2014 financial year 
with no immediate assurance to resolve this. Further 
details are available in the audit and financial 
section of the annual report. The government fully 
understands the financial challenges and remains 
committed to ensure the survival of the organisation.

NBSZ took a decision to reduce blood collections to 
65 000 below the target set at 75 000 and therefore 
blood and blood products distributed (54 000) when 
it was evident the demand was continuing to be 
below expectations. However, the action taken was 
not predictable in time enough resulting in a high 

rate of expired units (7.5%) discarded. The rate 
of HIV infection (0.5%) identified as well as other 
Transfusion Transmissible Infections (TTI) were 
generally low thanks to the pre-donation education 
of the donor public on safe blood donation as well as 
the skills of our clinic staff in safe donor screening.  
Due to the financial challenges it was not possible 
to open other distribution centres as planned, 
i.e., Chinhoyi, Mt. Darwin and Chiredzi.  However, 
Hwange donor centre was successfully commissioned 
to serve Matebeleland North province. More details 
are available in the sections to follow.

The primary target of the Safety Health Environment 
and Quality (SHEQ) department was to attain ISO 
9001:2008 certification. However, the ISO project 
did not move as fast as was projected and the ISO 
certification was not achieved by the end of the 
year but considerable progress has been made. All 
efforts during the year were focused on achieving ISO 
certification through training of staff in all branches 
in areas such as development of departmental 
policies and objectives, internal auditing.  This has 
been very successful. External Quality Assurance 
(EQAS) participation reflected a very high overall 
performance on all markers assessed, for TTIs 
and compatibility testing. Quality control of blood 
products produced 96 (87%) met all specifications 
and were accepted for use while 14 (13%) failed 
and were rejected. A total of 15 lots of other critical 
items were also evaluated during the year and 12 lots 
(80%) met specifications.

Planning and Research unit has trained all staff 
in planning and use of data. Virtually all staff are 
participating in planning and contributing to 
departmental reports. The blood bank software 
(e-Delphyn from Hemasoft) commissioned in 2012 
has been well integrated in the operations of the 
NBSZ.  Staff have been trained on its use and this has 
been made easy nationally through the establishment 
of dual optic fibre connectivity with all branches. 
Data management is possible at every level.

Overally despite many efforts at different fora, 
resource mobilisation has not been successful to 
any significant extent. An alternate funding model 
to sustain the NBSZ has not been identified and this 
remains a cause of concern in the short to medium 
term. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

2013ANNUAL REPORT

Mr David Mvere

Mr D Mvere
Chief Excutive Officer
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Blood Collections

The blood collection target which was initially pegged 
at 75000 units at the beginning of the year was 
revised down to 66605 units during the course of 
the year due to a decrease in demand as a result of 
financial constraints being experienced by hospitals. 
Total collections for 2013 were 67420 units thereby 
exceeding target by 1%. The proportion of donations 
according to donor type were  25 589 (38.0%) regular 
donors with at least two donations, 19,993 donations 
(29.7%) new donors, 9 069 (13.5%) regular donors 
who donated once a year, and 2 307 (3.4%) lapsed 
donors. The donations in wet or usable pack types 
were 84% of total collections. 

There were 15 apheresis donations. 4416 (8%) of 
usable donations were from Pledge 25 Club. The 
total number of panels visited was 649. Overall 
mobile teams collected more blood than static 
clinics. Most static clinics remained subdued except 
for Harare Headquaters and Harare Central Business 
District clinics. Harare Headquaters had the highest 
collections of  3 879 blood units. 10 564 usable blood 
units representing 19% of the usable collections were 
collected at static clinics whilst 46 394(81%) came 
from mobile teams.  The overall collections at static 

clinics increased by 4% compared to 2012. This can 
be attributed to the use of SMS for donor recall for 
static clinics which has been adopted by all clinics 
as the preferred method of calling blood donors. 57% 
of total deferrals was due to failing haemoglobin test. 
76% of donors failing haemoglobin test were females. 
86% decrease in production of single donor platelets 
and 41% decrease in non sero discards. The year to 
year donor retention for all donors is 34%.

Training of Healthcare workers 

In order to improve the blood transfusion process from 
the point of donation up to the time when blood is 
transfused into a patient, NBSZ held two workshops 
to train health care workers from two provinces in the 
country. The workshops were held in Mashonaland 
Central and Bulawayo, 55 health care workers were 
trained. The groups comprised of Doctors, Nurses and 
Medical Scientists. The training was on appropriate 
use of blood and the need to develop sound Quality 
Management systems in hospitals. Generic Standard 
Operating Procedures and forms that were developed 
for use by hospitals were submitted to the Ministry 
of Health and Child Care for distribution. Currently 
there are 2 hospitals that are giving feedback on a 
monthly basis on blood usage at their hospitals. 

2013ANNUAL REPORT
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Figure 1: Overall trends in usable  (i) blood collections and (ii) HIV seroprevalence (%)

Table 1: Total collections by Pack Type

Pack Type Donations HIV % HBV % HCV % Syphilis %
Dry  10,462 120 1.15 153 1.46 2 0.02 15 0.14
Wet  56,958 270 0.47 347 0.61 6 0.01 19 0.03
Total  67,420 390 0.58 500 0.74 8 0.01 34 0.05

2013ANNUAL REPORT14



Figure 2: Trends in annual donor numbers

Figure 3: Trends in year to year donor retention
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Table 2: Blood donations and TTI for usable donated blood units only

   Donations HIV % HBV % Syphilis %
OVERALL  56,958 270 0.47 347 0.61 19  0.03

BRANCH       
Harare   25,474  96 0.38 115 0.45 5  0.02
Bulawayo  10,878  62 0.57 50 0.46 6  0.06
Gweru   5,754  28 0.49 47 0.82 2  0.03
Mutare   7,263  52 0.72 61 0.84 3  0.04
Masvingo  7,589  32 0.42 74 0.98 3  0.04

VENUE       
Fixed Clinics  10,564  20 0.19 11 0.1 2  0.02
Mobile   46,394  250 0.54 336 0.72 17  0.04

Sex       
Females   24,533  159 0.65 123 0.5 7  0.03
Males   32,425  111 0.34 224 0.69 12  0.04

Age Group       
16-20   42,999  227 0.53 318 0.74 13  0.03
21-29   6,837  24 0.35 24 0.35 5  0.07
30-39   3,898  14 0.36 3 0.08 1  0.03
40-44   1,157  1 0.09 0 0 0  0
45+   2,047  4 0.2 2 0.1 0  0

Risk Category       
I (low)   34,658  57 0.16 56 0.16 9  0.03
II   19,464  176 0.9 255 1.31 8  0.04
III   1,000  18 1.8 7 0.7 0  0
IV (High)  939  10 1.06 13 1.38 1  0.11

Blood Group       
A   14,144  61 0.43 90 0.64 3  0.02
B   10,975  57 0.52 67 0.61 4  0.04
AB   2,049  5 0.24 6 0.29 1  0.05
O   29,710  144 0.48 182 0.61 11  0.04

Donor Type (R-Code)        
R1 (regular, >=2)  25,589  26 0.1 38 0.15 6  0.02
R2 (regular = 1)  9,069  31 0.34 18 0.2 3  0.03
R3 (lapsed)  2,307  26 1.13 15 0.65 0  0
R4 (new)  19,993  187 0.94 276 1.38 10  0.05
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Table 3: Blood donor profiles

       Donors  %

OVERALL      37,294   100

Branch  
 Harare      19,952   44
 Bulawayo     9,099   20
 Gweru      4,828   11
 Mutare      5,948   13
 Masvingo     5,729   13

Gender  
 Females      17,517   47
 Males      19,777   53

Site  
 Fixed       4,521   12
 Mobile      32,773   88
  
Age Group  
 16-20      30,860   83
 21-29      3,499   9
 30-39      1,574   4
 40-44      476   1
 45 +      869   2

Donor Types  
 Regular      17,087   46
 Lapsed      2,290   6
 New       17,917   48

Donations/year  
 1      23,074   41
 2      19,701   35
 3      10,350   18
 4 or more     3,833   7

Blood Groups  
 A      9,229   25
 B      7,265   20
 AB      1,384   4
 O      19,336   52

Pledge 25  
 Members     1,970   5
 Non-members     35,324   95
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Peer Promoters
A total of six hundred and twenty eight (628) students 
and teachers from various high schools were trained 
under the Peer Promoters programme. Peer Promoters 
are instrumental in blood donor recruitment and 
retention of school blood donors. They are also helpful 
during the blood drives held at the schools. 

Pledge 25 Club Zimbabwe (P25)  
A total of thirty eight Pledge 25 Club Zimbabwe blood 
zones were operational in 2013. A total of fifty one (51) 
Pledge 25 Club Zimbabwe received awards for reaching 
the milestones of twenty five (25) blood donations. The 
Pledge 25 Club Zimbabwe held the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) in Masvingo and selected a national 
executive to serve for the next three years under a 
new constitution. Pledge 25 Club Zimbabwe had a 
membership of one thousand nine hundred and seventy  
(1,970) active blood donors for the year 2013, 

The P25 strategic plan was reviewed in July 2013 
resulting in the formulation of the 2014-2016 
strategic plan. The club also reviewed its Pledge 25 
Club Zimbabwe constitution and was adopted at the 
AGM in October 2013.

YOUTH PROGRAMMES

2013ANNUAL REPORT

Tania Marumbwa (Committee member), Khayelihle Ncube (Public Relations Officer), Clive Masarakufa (Committee member), Cosmas Mundiya 
(Secretary General), Fungai Chiwara (Club President)
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Donations Testing
All samples were tested for TTIs and had results successfully transmitted into the system. All samples, which 
had reactive results or results in the gray-zone after initial TTI screening were sent to the Reference and 
Research section of the laboratory for confirmatory testing. 

Blood Component Preparation

 
   PC       PC         Plasma Plts WB WB  Cryo 
          Paed     Paed
 Q1/2013 16943        107         2573 625 972 12  220
 Q2/2013 13473            85         2591 624 589 14  95
 Q3/2013 12138             77            3018 715 430 6  98
 Q4/2013 11796             68            2210 659 494 4  0
 Total  54350          337          10392 2623 2485 36  413

Key:
Cryo – Cryoprecipitate  PC – Packed Cells Plts – Plateletes PaedPC – Paediatric Packed Cells WB – Whole Blood.
Q- Quater

Table  5: 2013 Female and Male Blood Drives

Event  Target  Seen Bled Reg New Female Male
Mixed Galas 3530  2126 2012 1422 590 567 1445
Ladies Galas 1440  744 696 630 66 696 Nil
Men Splash 2700  1656 1568 1426 142 Nil 1568
   7606  4526 4276 3478 798 1263 3013
    60% 56% 81% 19% 30% 70%
Youth Donor Month (YDM) 2013 -14
 
Harare  1510  1139 1056 806 250 75.40%
Bulawayo 650  362 351 276 75 55.60%
Gweru  650  522 468 387 81 80.30%
Masvingo 620  434 396 327 69 70%
Mutare  680  635 600 416 184 93.30%
Total  4110  3092 2871 2212 659  
    75.20%  70% 77% 23%  

Table 6: Components Produced
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BLOOD PRODUCT DISTRIBUTIONS
Of the 54350 packed cells that were produced nationally, about 99% (54184) were distributed throughout 
the NBSZ’s five branches, with 79% of these being distributed through the despatch sections of the laboratory. 
However, these figures must be interpreted with care, keeping in mind that there was some opening stock that 
was carried forward from 2012 which has not been accounted for. 

Table 7: Despatch Section Distributions

Table 8: Compatibilities Testing Laboratory Distributions

Discards
3.6% (2422) of the units were lost as non-serological 
discards. Reasons for these vary and can be, but not 
limited to, underweight, overweight, broken during 
processing or received with clots from the mobile 
teams. Of usable units, 4300 (7.5%) red cell 
components were lost through expiries whilst 400 
(16%) platelet units were also lost through expiry. 

Reagents Preparation
The reagents production function of the Reagents 
and Components Production section of the Laboratory 
in Harare was relocated to the Bulawayo Branch 
in February 2013, with the mandate to produce 
enough reagents for the needs of the organisation 
(NBSZ), hospitals and any other customer requiring 
our products. Production started in March and the 
statistics are shown below:

Table 9: 10ml vials of reagents produced from March to December 2013

2013ANNUAL REPORT

    Red Blood Cells  Whole Blood         Plasma         Platelets 
  PC             Paed PC WBs   Paed WB FFP 1 FFP 3 PLT 1      PLT 2        Cryoprecipitate

Harare  7372 54 70 2 888 9 1111 9 200
Bulawayo 3278 13 173 - 526 - 33 - 20
Mutare 745 - 7 - 96 - 8 - -
Masvingo - - - - - - - - -
Gweru  - - - - - - - - -
Total  11395 67 250 2 1510 9 1152 9 220

     Red Blood    Whole Blood       Plasma                   Platelets 
      Cells 
  PC Paed WBs Paed WB FFP 1 FFP 3 PLT 1 PLT 2 Cryoprecipitate
   PC 
Harare  20438 174 254 2 2726 1 549 2 16
Bulawayo 6353 - 248 - 569 - 34 - 38
Mutare  5280 - 31 - 103 - 0 - -
Masvingo 5944 - 94 - 76 - 1 - -
Gweru  4774 1 86 - 208 - 8 - -
Total  42789 175 713 2 3682 1 592 2 54

       A1 cells     A2 cells B cells O cells Screen cells Osens cells Anti A Anti B Anti AB Anti D rum Anti D IgG/IgM

Total     433       68 455 180 50 78 784 965 229 150 511
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The main target of the Service for 
the year 2013 was to develop a 
sustainable quality management 
system culminating in ISO 9001:2008 
certification and on building sustainable 
SHE programs in all branches. However, 
the ISO project certification was not 
achieved by the end of the year as 
had been anticipated but considerable 
progress was made, with SAZ coming 
in for Initial Document Evaluation in 
November 2013. Findings therefrom 
are being attended to with a view to 
achieve certification by mid 2014. 

QMS Training

All Staff were trained on the ISO 
9001:2008 and ISO 15189:2007 
standards as well as level 1 (policy) 
and level 2 (corporate procedure) 
documents. This was vital training 
for the smooth and successful 
implementation of the standards. 
Three senior members attended a 
course on Method validation, which 
was facilitated by Zimbabwe National 
Quality Assurance Program (ZINQAP) 
and conducted by Zimbabwean trainers 
that are working in the international 
community.

Management Review of the 
QMS

Meetings to review the quality 
management system were conducted 
periodically throughout the year. A total 
of five management review meetings 
were held during the year. This was 
much more than the requirements of 
the ISO 9001:2008 which requires 
the review of the QMS at least once per 
year, but was necessitated by the need 
to constantly monitor our QMS so that 
it quickly reaches maturity and can be 
formally certified.

Application for ISO 9001:2008 
Certification

An application for ISO 9001:2008 
certification was successfully made 
to the Standards Association of 
Zimbabwe (SAZ) at the end of the 
year. The SAZ subsequently came 
for an initial document evaluation 
in November 2013. This was mainly 
to assess the compliance of NBSZ 
documents to the requirements of 
the ISO 9001:2008 standard and the 
organisation’s preparedness for the 
stage 2 certification audit. According 
to the auditors, the organisation has a 
well documented quality management 
system which will be ready for Stage 2 
certification audit upon the addressing 
of the 11 nonconformities that were 
raised. NBSZ was given six months to 
implement the corrective action. Upon 
closure of these 11 findings, NBSZ will 

progress to the stage 2 (certification) 
audit whereby NBSZ has chosen to be 
certified as a multisite organisation with 
each of the five branches registered as 
a separate site. This means audits can 
be done on selected sites at a time 
chosen by SAZ and the outcome will be 
taken to reflect the status of the quality 
management system within the whole 
organization.

Calibration of equipment

Calibration of measuring equipment on 
a regular basis is one of the fundamental 
elements of a successful quality 
management system. There were 
challenges faced in the process due to 
cash flow challenges, which resulted 
in late payment of service providers 
who in turn withheld their services 
until some of their demands were 
met. This resulted in most equipment 
being calibrated after their due dates. 
However, all equipment, which require 
calibration, was eventually calibrated. 
An equipment maintenance fund has 
been set aside to ensure that there 
will not be a repetition of the above-
mentioned problems. 

External Quality Assessment 
Schemes (EQAS) Participation

The NBSZ laboratories continuously 
participated in external quality 
assessment schemes. They are enrolled 
in the United Kingdom National Quality 
Assessment Scheme (UK NEQAS), 
South African National Blood Service 
(SANBS) and ZINQAP schemes. The 
results have been generally satisfactory 
throughout the year with overall scores 
of 100%, 97.05% and 90.73% for UK 
NEQAS, ZINQAP and SANBS schemes 
respectively.

Quality Management Systems (QMS)
The development of M&E system for 
blood usage in Hospitals has not yet 
been satisfactorily completed. A mid-
term evaluation protocol for the blood 
safety project under the Presidential 
Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief 
(PEPFAR) was developed and will be 
implemented. 

PEPFAR Project 
Management

The third funding year, FY3 (30 
Sep 2012 to 29 Sep 2013) was 
successfully completed after receiving 
the $700,000.00. The Service 
managed to make a continuation 
application for funding year four, 
FY4 (30 Sep 2013 to 29 Sep 2014) 
and was awarded $500,000. The 
Annual Program Results for FY3 was 
developed and circulated. The Project 
Custom Indicators were developed 
and are being tracked. At all instance 
the Service has managed to meet all 
the reporting requirements (quarterly 
reports, half yearly, annual progress 
reports and Financial Status Reports) 
in conformity with all the PEPFAR 
report templates. Progress Meetings 
with CDC Activity Manager are going 
on well. A favourable Notice of Award 
for FY4 was received for the PEPFAR 
grant.

Research Programme
First and second intake of the Diploma 
in Project Design and Management 
(DPDM) students submitted their final 
research write-ups and are awaiting 
results which are expected in the 
first quarter of 2014. The Planning 
Information and Research department 
assisted two DPDM first intake 
students financially to complete their 
studies. A meeting to harmonise the 
operations of the T-REC and NBSZ 
research activities was held on 6th 
February 2013. The meeting discussed 
the NBSZ Research Policy, Research 
Priority areas, reconstitution of the 
research committee, and research 
activities dissemination. A Research 
Fellowship meeting was held in Q3 
and process for research fellowship 
programme is now available. BRTI 
continues to support our staff to attend 
sponsored research related courses.

Two papers on M&E and training on 
Standards were orally presented at 
the AABB Annual Conference by Mr. 
Tonderai Mapako and Sister Judith 
Parirewa respectively. Another paper 
on Blood Requirements Estimation 
was orally presented during the 
SANBS 32nd Conference by Mr. M. 
Mutenherwa. Invited presentations 
were done at the 2013 ZASCO 
congress by Mr D. A Mvere and Mr T. 
Mapako. NBSZ remains committed 
to share information at international 
scientific congress/conferences. 

Data 
Management 
and 
Monitoring 
and 
Evaluation 
(M&E)
Data management continues to be 
strengthened through essential data
programme. The Blood Safety Logic 
Model was finalized, which assists in 
monitoring and evaluation of all planned 
activities.  
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MEGAFEST TEAM BUILDER OF 
THE YEAR AWARD
NBSZ was once again honoured in the City of Kings, 
Bulawayo at the Megafest Prestigious Business 
Awards, which were held on 1 November 2013.  
NBSZ received an Award through its Bulawayo 
Branch Manager, Mr. Mawere Nashford Muchineuta 
for the Management Team Builder of the Year 2013.  
The event was graced by a number of top corporate 
organizations in Zimbabwe who were also honoured 
for their various contributions.     The 2013 Megafest 
Business Awards were held under the theme 
“Restoring the glory of the Industrial Hub”.

NBSZ T-REC PHD STUDENT 
RECEIVES INTERNATIONAL 
RECOGNITION

Transfusion Research Capacity (T-REC) PhD 
Student, Tonderai Mapako who is also NBSZ 
Planning, Information & Research Manager had 
his article accepted for publication in one of 
the highest rated international blood transfusion 
journal TRANSFUSION. The article on “Human 
immunodeficiency virus prevalence, incidence, and 
residual transmission risk in first-time and repeat 
blood donations in Zimbabwe: implications on blood 
safety” was submitted for publication on 7th of 
January 2013 and revisions were submitted on 8th 
of May 2013.  

The good news on the acceptance of the paper for 
publication was received on the 13th of May 2013 
and the article was published online on 23rd of June 
2013 and the abstract can be accessed through 
the http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/
trf.12311/abstract.  According to Liverpool School of 
Tropical Medicine UK, T-REC Scientific Coordinator, 
Prof. Imelda Bates on her visit to NBSZ in June 2013, 
indicated that Tonderai is the FIRST among the 4 
PhD students under the T-REC programme to attain 
this level of achievement.  Tonderai is registered with 
the University of Groningen, Netherlands which is a 
beneficiary of the EU funded Transfusion Research 
Capacity (T-REC) Project.  The PhD programme 
requires students to publish at least four publications 
in the relevant peer-reviewed international journals.  
Tonderai’s publication is the first from the four that 
are required.    

In Netherlands Publication successes are celebrated 
through what is called a “Cake Ceremony” to honour 
such great achievements.  Dr Marinus Van Hulst 
Tonderai’s daily PhD supervisor encouraged him to 
celebrate this success in this Dutch fashion.  To 
honour this great Dutch tradition, on the 19th of 
September 2013, T-REC Management team in 
Zimbabwe in collaboration with the PhD student and 
NBSZ Executive Management hosted a Publication 
Cake Ceremony in honour of Mr Mapako’s great 
achievement.

The T-REC project was launched in Zimbabwe in 
October 2011 by the Permanent Secretary in the 
Ministry of Health & Child Care; Brigadier General 
(Dr) Gerald Gwinji.  In his speech, Brigadier General 
(Dr.) Gerald Gwinji highly commended this project 
and thanked the EU and Liverpool School of Tropical 
Medicine for the research grant.

E-Delphyn project 
The E-Delphyn Local Engineers organised and 
successfully held a user support seminar for all 
users in Q1. Users were grateful for the seminar. 
The seminar helped users refresh and deepen their 
understanding of the blood bank software. Users 
shared their experiences. Trouble- shooting of some 
problems was done. Department have identified and 
written / revised their SOPs in line with changes 
brought as a result of e-Delphyn.  Users are now 
able to extract some management reports data and 
information from e Delphyn.

 AWARDS
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From left: Sr Lubimbi (Byo Head of Clinic), G Maunganidze (Assistant Lab Manager- Reagents), T Mapako (PIR Manager), S Ngwenya (Byo PRO), Nasford Muchineuta
(Byo Branch Manager- Award recipient), E Massundah(Public Affairs Manager), G Mutasa (Assistant Lab Manager)
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ICT security review 
An ICT Security Company was contracted to review NBSZ 
ICT Security. So far data has been collected on policies and 
network diagrams, compiled information assets inventory 
and assessed risk. The consultant is now working on the 
required controls.

Strategic Planning and Work Plans
The Service remains committed to ensure that there is 
robust, effective and efficient planning process at all 
its levels (individual, section, departmental/branch and 
corporate). All departments managed to develop and have 
their 2013 work plans in place. The work plans were 
periodically reviewed in line with the NBSZ planning and 
reporting policy. The Management and Organizational 
Sustainability Tool (MOST) implementation plan was also 
reviewed 

PUBLICITY ACTIVITIES

Annual General Meetings (AGM) & 
Donor Awards
The National AGM was held on the 28th of August 2013. 
Branch AGMs were also held between August and September 
2013 . In 2013, eighty two blood donors received awards 
for achieving various milestones as follows: 

Number of donations Number of recipients
50    55
75    20
100    4
150    3
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Harare AGM donor awards

I AM MOTIVATED TO DONATE BLOOD 
AND SAVE LIVES

On 31 August 2011, I received an award for making 50 blood donations 
at the National Blood Service Zimbabwe (NBSZ) Bulawayo annual 
general meeting.    It was on this day when I realised how much the 
voluntary work I have done over the years has gone a long way in saving 
people’s lives.  Today I am proud that as the year 2013 has come to an 
end, I have 61 donations to my name.  
It is a journey that began 12 years ago when I was still a student at 
Njube High School.  I still remember well, it was the first term and a 
team from the NBSZ visited my school.  We were told that for one to be 
able to donate blood, they had to be 16 years and weigh 50 kilograms.  
I was not yet 16 then even though I was more than 50kgs so it meant 
I could not donate blood then.  I recall one my classmates who was a 
close friend of mine, younger than, me lied about his date of birth so 
he could donate blood. Such was the enthusiasm about giving blood.

When the NBSZ team paid another visit to my school during the second 
term, I had turned 16 and was able to make my first blood donation. 
They came again during the third term and I made my second donation.  
In my last year at Njube High School, which was in 1999 I donated 
blood three times.  When I left school, NSBZ communicated with me 
and urged me to continue donating blood and that is when I moved 
over to St Georges Clinic, which is situated in the Bulawayo CBD.
 
For me the biggest motivation has been the fact that by donating blood 
I am helping save lives, I might never get to meet anyone who has been 
given my blood but I know that the 25.5 litres of my blood that I have 
voluntarily given has saved many lives.
 
Many might ask how I have managed to keep myself healthy in this 
modern day era where there is lots of temptations especially in my field 
of work where you get to travel all over the country and even across the 
borders to carry out assignments. My answer is simple; I have been 
responsible with my life and that is why I have remained healthy for 
the past 14 years that I have been donating blood. I am still single and 
should there be any change in my marital status, I am sure it would be 
with someone as healthy as me so that I can continue donating blood. 

To me donating blood has never been about benefitting anything, I 
have received pens, hats, caps, ties, mugs and T-shirts but the biggest 
reward of them all is that certificate which proudly hangs on my Lounge 
wall.  One day I hope I will show it to my children and motivate them 
to donate blood so that they can save a life.

In the past 14 years, I have never missed any donation.  In 2011, 
I timed my 50th donation with my birthday and how unique that 
was.  I wonder how many have donated blood on their birthdays? My 
passionate plea goes out to all the healthy citizens out there to become 
blood donors. Donating blood is not for school kids, it is for all of us, 
the common man on the street to the prominent people in society, to 
become a blood donor.

As Brand Ambassador of NBSZ, I am appealing to all healthy 
Zimbabweans especially the adults to make a difference today and 
donate blood by visiting the nearest NBSZ Centre to you.  The festive 
season is usually marred by high road carnage meaning blood will be 
needed to save the accident victims.  
Your precious donation can save a life.

Mehluli Sibanda – NBSZ Brand 
Ambassador
Matebeleland Region 
Bulawayo Region
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World Blood Donor Day 2013
The theme “Give the gift of life: donate blood”, 
focused on the value of donated blood to the patient, 
not only in saving life, but also in helping people live 
longer and more productive lives.  The theme also 
looked at the fact that everyone can become a hero 
by giving blood. It also strongly encouraged more 
people all over the world to donate blood voluntarily 
and regularly and by so doing saving lives.

The national commemorations were held at Mutendi 
High School, and brought together important people 
from different backgrounds that included 
• The Honourable Governor and Resident Minister  
   of Masvingo Province; Cde Titus Maluleke who     
   was represented by the Member of Parliament  
   Masvingo District; Senator Maina Mandava.  
• Former Ministers of Health Dr. Timothy Stamps  
   who is also Health Advisor to the Office of the  
   President and Cabinet, 
•  Rtd Brigadier General Dr Felix Muchemwa who  
   is also Special Advisor on Disability issues in the  
   Office of the President and Cabinet, 
• Chairman of the Health Service Board, Dr   
   Lovemore Mbengeranwa, 
• Bishop Nehemiah Mutendi, leader of the Zion  
   Christian Church, 
• Professor Hope Sadza, Women’s University’s Vice       
   Chancellor and Co-Patron of NBSZ.  
Several members of the Masvingo Community 
and Provincial Heads of Department were also in 
attendance.   

The host school of the National commemorations, 

Mutendi High Schoool, received the provincial 
winner’s prize for Masvingo Province comprising a 
floating shield, certificate, desktop computer, colour 
Printer, Net One broadband dongle and Sign Board 
which were all proudly sponsored by Net One.  John 
Tallach High School the overall national winners 
in the 10 provinces, contributing 22% of blood to 
the blood bank were presented with their national 
award of a Laptop, four Desktop Computers, colour 
printer, Net One broadband dongle and a sign board 
sponsored by Net One. Publicity of the event was 
covered from 13th – 19th June 2013. 

Net One who has been supporting the World Blood 
Donor Day commemorations since 2004 increased 
their sponsorship package to the tune of USD$40,000 
up from last year’s (2012) sponsorship of $23,000.  
In 2013 Net One introduced an additional award 
category for the National Winner to be given to a 
school that had the highest collections throughout 
the country. The inaugural winners of this award was 
John Tallach High School from Matabeleland North. 

WORLD BLOOD 
DONOR DAY NATIONAL 
COMMEMORATIONS
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The award winners are tabulated in Table 11
Table 11 Provincial School Blood Donor Shield Award

 Province   Winning School
 
 Matabeleland North  John Tallach High
 Matabeleland South  Thekwane High
 Bulawayo   Premier High
 Harare    Chisipite Senior  School
 Mashonaland East   Naggle House
 Mashonaland Central  Ruya Adventist High
 Mashonaland West  Presbyterian High
 Manicaland    Sakubva 2 High
 Masvingo   Mutendi High
 Midlands    Progress College

Former Ministers of Health RTD Brigadier General F Muchemwa and Dr T Stamps hands over award to 
Mutendi High School Headmaster  Mr S. Mutendi and Bishop N. Mutendi leader of Zion Christian Church
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On the 2nd of December 2013, NBSZ in partnership 
with the Traffic Safety Council of Zimbabwe and other 
corporate organisations hosted the Festive Season 
Campaign which ran under the theme: “Save Lives. 
Save money, Save Property; Its time to act; Zimbabwe 
says No to Road Accidents”. In this initiative NBSZ 
and other corporate organisations partnered to alert 
all road users about making good informed decisions 
while behind the wheel. Accidents deeply impact 
the blood bank stocks hence, the need for people to 
donate blood so that it is available when it is needed.  
At the same event NBSZ launched the Youth Donor 
Month and the Adult Campaign.
 

Media Relations
A total of 51 articles were published from January 
to December 2013 under the NBSZ Sunday Column 
in the Sunday Mail. Sunday column continued to 
give NBSZ visibility with is stakeholders and the 
public. NBSZ received invitations to participate at 
wellness programmes and blood drive campaigns. 5 
supplements were published in the provincial papers  
in Harare, Bulawayo, Gweru, Masvingo and Mutare 
for the WBDD and one in the Chronicle newspaper 
on the Trade Fair Supplement. Unsolicited media 
coverage was received in topical areas such as the 
outstanding debt by government hospitals, price 
adjustment of blood and blood products coverage 
was through the following newspapers; Herald, 
Sunday Mail, Daily News, News Day, The Zimbabwe 
Mail, New Ziana,  H-Metro, Patriotic Front, Suburban 
News, Chronicle (Bulawayo, Gweru), Sunday News, 
Southern Eye, Umthunywa (Bulawayo),  Masvingo 
Mirror (Masvingo), Manica Post (Mutare), Gweru 
Times (Gweru). NBSZ contributed articles in other 
publications such as the MoHCC Health Matters 
Magazine, Ndeipi Harare Magazine and the Megafest 
Magazine. Electronic coverage was through ZTV, ZBC 
Radio News Zi-FM, STAR FM, Voice of Zimbabwe, 
Voice of America, SFM Radio.

CAMPAIGNS
The following campaigns were carried out in 2013;
Valentine Campaign    - February 2013
Easter Campaign    - April 2013
Mothers Day Campaign   - May 2013
World Blood Donor Day   - June 2013
Heroes Campaign    - August 2013
Festive Season Campaign   - December 2013
Youth Donor Month & Adult Campaign - December 2013
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Junior Chamber International member donating blood during the Valentine’s 
Blood Drive Campaign

EXHIBITIONS, SHOWS AND WELLNESS 
PROGRAMMES
NBSZ successfully participated in 33 Wellness Programmes and the 
following Shows and Exhibitions:
 
Home & Garden Expo  -   March 2013
Zimbabwe International Trade Fair -   April 2013
Midlands Agricultural Show -   July 2013
Masvingo Agricultural Show -   September 2013 
Harare Agricultural Show  -   August 2013
Manicaland Agricultural Show -   September 2013
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Brand Visibility and Identity
NBSZ appointed brand ambassadors at national and 
provincial level in an effort to motivate blood donors 
and spread awareness about the importance of donating 
blood.  In 2013 the brand ambassadors were part 
of blood drives for both the youth and adults special 
events so as to help appeal to both current and potential 
donors to donate blood. This in turn helped to increase 
the organizational brand visibility. Mr. Bob Nyabinde 
popularly known as the “Headmaster” was elevated to 
National Brand Ambassador on 1 December 2013, after 
having served as Midlands Brand Ambassador. This 
came as recognition of his outstanding passion for the  
work being done by NBSZ. Ms Pauline Matambanadzo 
(a blood recipient) was appointed as Brand Ambassador 
for Harare Region at a function to launch the Festive 
Season Campaign on 1 December 2013. Her testimony 
of how blood transfusion saved her life has given the 
charisma and energy that led to NBSZ appointing her 
brand ambassador.  

NBSZ BRAND 
AMBASSADORS

Bob Nyabinde –
National  Brand Ambassador

Fungisai Zvakavapano Mashavave-
 National Brand Ambassador

Benjani MwaruwarI
National Brand Ambassador

Mehluli Sibanda  
Bulawayo and Matebeleland Province

Blessing Shumba
Manicaland Province

Emmanuel Nyamande- Brand Ambassador 
Harare Metropolitan and Mashonaland Province

Sandra Ndebele-Sibindi 
Bulawayo and Matebeleland Province  

Pauline Matambanadzo- Brand Ambassador 
Harare Metropolitan and Mashonaland Province

Tatenda Chinoda 
Masvingo Province
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Hosting of national events such as the harmonized elections, which were held in August 2013, greatly affected resource 
mobilization activities as most businesses put on hold their corporate social responsibility programmes.  There were 3 
Trustee Meetings which were held in 2013.

DONATIONS
1. Barclays Bank donated $34 763,72 which was channelled towards the P25 activities in May 2013.
2. ZINARA donated $50 000 cash in October 2013 and furthermore pledged to re-tar the road at Harare Branch and   
    United Bulawayo Hospital (UBH) leading to the blood bank. 
3. Total Zimbabwe donated cash $1000
4. Gweru Branch received a donation of a four Plate Stove and a small Refrigerator valued at $800 from UNKI Mine in  
    March 2013.

RESOURCE MOBILIZATION

NBSZ TRUST DONATES DISTRESS 
FUND COUPONS
Recognising the challenge to accessing safe blood by 
hospitals, and individuals, due to the relatively high costs, 
the Zimbabwe Blood Service Trust a resource mobilis
ation arm of the NBSZ established a “Distress Fund” in 
March 2012 to help pay blood for patients in need and assist 
in improving the cold chain equipment in hospitals.  Out of 
proceeds raised through its fundraising activities, $25 000 
was allocated to the “Distress Fund”.  On 17 December 
2013, NBSZ handed over blood coupons worth $25 000 
to the Minister of Health & Child Care (MoHCC) Honourable 

Dr David Parirenyatwa at his offices. The coupons were 
donated just in time for the festive season, a period which 
the demand for blood and blood products is usually high.
  
In attendance at the handover ceremony were the Permanent 
Secretary in the MoHCC; Brigadier General (Dr) Gerald 
Gwinji, Finance Director; Mr Leonard Mabandi, Director 
Epidemiology & Disease Control; Dr Portia Manangazira and 
other representatives from the various departments within 
the MoHCC.  NBSZ was represented by the CEO; Mr David 
Mvere, Board Member; Mr Elliot Mugamu, Board of Trustee 
and Chairman of the Resource Mobilization Committee; Mr 
Lovemore Banda, NBSZ Public Affairs Manager; Miss Esther 
Massundah and Finance Controller Mr Radhi Chikwereti.

Barclays Bank Zimbabwe handing over a donation to NBSZ

NBSZ Trustees handing over Distress Fund coupons to MoHCC 
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Edith Penduka

“Hi Edith...,” sounds of 
sobbing followed the greeting. 
This was a call from a dear 
friend. After explaining her 
situation, I knew I needed to 
be on the next bus to Harare to 
be with my friend. As soon as 
I had made that resolution, I 
quickly remembered that I was 
scheduled to fulfill a fixture 
in Masvingo the very next day 
with the girls’ basketball team 
that I helped to coach.  Later 
on that night, I packed two 
bags, first a small cooler bag 
with refreshments for the trip, 
and a weekend bag for Harare.  
I said my prayers and slept 
soundly.

The next day started early and 
we arrived at Kyle College 
and won both matches 
convincingly. As we were about 
to leave one of our girls had 
an asthma attack and that 
delayed our departure by four 
hours. As we chatted with 
my fellow coach I remember 
saying that, “many times we 
plan to do A, B, C, and yet God 
has his purposes which we 
so often ignore.” Finally, we 
departed at around 4p.m and 
stopped over in Mvuma to buy 
supper for the girls. The last 
thing I remember doing was 
sending a sms to my friend 
explaining that I could only 
make it the next day. How very 
disappointed I was, and how 
I prayed that God would have 
his way, closing my eyes to 
have a nap before we reached 
our destination.

The next time I opened my 
eyes I saw my brother and 
sister looking down at me and 
how much I wanted to explain 
how badly I wanted to go to 

Harare. Slowly, I realised that 
I could not speak, I could not 
get up and that I was in a 
hospital.
As the days went by, my sister 
began to describe all that had 
transpired. It all sounded like 
an episode of Greys Anatomy. 
I had had eight pints of blood 
transfused, been in theatre for 
up to eight hours with more 
than five medical specialists 
taking turns to use the skill 
they had over my body. For 
about 10 days my family, 
friends, church, well wishers 
had been praying that I could 
start breathing with out the 
use of a ventilator, and get 
out of comatose. Furthermore, 
the doctors were not sure 
whether there had been any 
brain damage as my brain was 
swollen. I was in the ICU ward.

Many questions began to 
plague my mind and nobody 
could give me answers. I 
just remember a gentle voice 
assuring me that I am safe 
and that, “I will never leave 
you nor forsake you.” I then 
realised that I had survived a 
terrible accident, had terrible 
facial lacerations, a damaged 
shoulder, broken jaw bones 
and many complications. I 
remember the peace I felt 
in my heart whenever I saw 
groups of strangers praying by 
my bed and how much I knew 
I was loved by God.

As the weeks passed on I 
slowly realised the extent of 
my wounds as well that I was 
spared from death for a reason.  
The Neuro-surgeon then 
came through for his usual 
rounds, but the expression 
on his face was different. He 
then explained that I had no 
feeling and movement in my 
left arm because I had severed 

the brachial plaxa nerve at 
an angle so I needed to go 
for surgery in two days. Then 
next time he came for his 
rounds, he explained that the 
operation was unsuccessful 
and that I could no longer use 
my left arm normally again. 
Taking all of this news in was 
very difficult and it affected 
my siblings even worse as they 
were very hopeful that the 
operation would be successful.

  Today, I can type and carry 
a few things around with my 
left arm and still believing that 
God will make it whole again. 
My face is scarred and this 
at times serves as a painful 
reminder of what happened, 
but also an opportunity to 
share how God is alive in me 
and how He saved me. I recall 
how many people describe that 
God worked a miracle in my 
life, and that He is ultimately 
in control. Of course, I have 
times when I feel like I want 
God to sit down with me and 
explain the whys but He has 
reassured me that He loves 
me.

Today I walk, talk, and live 
knowing that life is a gift, but 
ultimately an opportunity to 
live out life for the glory of 
God, to shine a light for Christ’s 
sake. I’m also very grateful for 
the men and women who took 
time to give me life, the blood 
donors that gave a part of 
themselves to me. I have life 
today because of the heroes 
that walk past me everyday, 
the blood donors that the 
world forgets to celebrate. I 
celebrate them and remember 
them every year on the 29th 
of July. I call it “Life Day”, 
because life was given back to 
me.

Testimonial Blood Recipient

28



The Directors are required by the Companies Act 
(Chapter 24:03), to maintain adequate accounting 
records and are responsible for the content and 
integrity of the financial statements and related 
financial information included in this report. It 
is their responsibility to ensure that the financial 
statements fairly present the state of affairs of the 
Company as at the end of the financial year and 
the results of its operations and cash flows for the 
period then ended, in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors 
are engaged to express an independent opinion on 
the financial statements.

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the Company and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the Directors to meet these 
responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in 
a cost effective manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an 
acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the Company and all employees are 
required to maintain the highest ethical standards 
in ensuring the Company’s business is conducted 
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is 
above reproach. The focus of risk management in 
the Company is on identifying, assessing, managing 
and monitoring all known forms of risk across the 
Company. While operating risk cannot be fully 
eliminated, the Company endeavors to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 
controls, systems and ethical behavior are applied 
and managed within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the 
information and explanations given by management 
that the system of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may be relied 
on for the preparation of the financial statements. 
However, any system of internal financial control can 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The Directors, as disclosed in note 21 to the 
financial statements, acknowledge that the Company 
incurred a deficit and has working capital challenges. 
However, they believe that the preparation of the 
financial statements on a going concern basis is still 
appropriate as they have undertaken measures to 
address the situation. 

The external auditors are responsible for independently 
auditing and reporting on the Company’s financial 
statements. The financial statements and related 
notes have been audited by the Company’s external 
auditors and their report is presented on pages 3 to 
4.

The financial statements and the related notes set 
out on pages 5 to 23, which have been prepared on 
the going concern basis, were approved by the Board 
and were signed on its behalf by:

  

CHAIRMAN                                     CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
    

13 June 2014     

DIRECTORS’RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
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Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial 
statements of NATIONAL BLOOD SERVICE 
ZIMBABWE set out on pages 5 to 23, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2013, the statement of income and 
expenditure, the statement of changes in reserves 
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of the significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial 
statements

The Company’s Directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner 
required by the Companies Act (Chapter 24:03) and 
the relevant Statutory Instruments (“SI”) SI 33/99 
and SI 62/96. This responsibility includes designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, we consider internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 

the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Unqualified opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of NATIONAL BLOOD SERVICE ZIMBABWE as at 31 
December 2013, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Emphasis of matter

We draw attention to note 21 to the financial 
statements which indicates that the Company 
incurred a deficit of US$1,385,281 during the year 
ended 31 December 2013 and, as of that date, the 
company’s current liabilities exceeded its current 
assets by US$76,235. These conditions, along with 
other matters as set forth in note 21, indicate the 
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt about the company’s ability to 
continue operating as a going concern. Our opinion is 
not qualified in respect of this matter. 

Report on legal and regulatory 
requirements

In our opinion, the financial statements have been 
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Companies Act (Chapter 24:03) 
and the relevant Statutory Instruments SI 33/99 and 
SI 62/96.

BDO Zimbabwe     
Harare
Chartered Accountants                      
13 June 2014

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
TO THE MEMBERS OF
NATIONAL BLOOD SERVICE ZIMBABWE 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION    
      
      
                   2013             2012
       Note              US$  US$
ASSETS      
      
Non current assets      
Property and equipment          4    2,551,347      2,802,666 
      
Current assets      
Inventories           5       305,036         500,757 
Trade and other receivables          6    1,760,398      2,214,344 
Bank and cash balances               93,445         232,931 
                        2,158,879      2,948,032 
      
Total assets           4,710,226      5,750,698 
      
RESERVES AND LIABILITIES      
      
Reserves      
Non-distributable reserve             866,561         866,561 
Donated assets reserve               52,237           53,754 
Revaluation reserve          1,168,675      1,168,675 
Accumulated surplus             387,639      1,772,920 
            2,475,112      3,861,910 
      
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables          7    2,183,566      1,842,104 
Bank overdraft                51,548           46,684 
           2,235,114      1,888,788 
      
Total reserves and liabilities         4,710,226      5,750,698 
      
      
 

CHAIRMAN     CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER    
 
13 June 2014
      
      
    

  as at 31 December 2013

2013ANNUAL REPORT

 

31



for the year ended 31 December 2013     
     
                   2013             2012
       Note              US$   US$ 
     
INCOME     
     
Revenue            8    5,300,683      4,937,646 
Donations and grants          9    1,009,686      3,181,950 
Other income         10         45,589         616,763 
Total income              6,355,958      8,736,359 
     
EXPENDITURE     
Operating expenses        11  (3,029,287)  (3,179,789)
Administrative expenses        12  (4,634,011)  (4,654,097)
Finance charges         13       (77,941)     (101,667)
(Deficit)/surplus for the year       (1,385,281)       800,806 
     

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE  
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for the year ended 31 December 2013        
  
         
   
            Total  
                  US$          US$        US$               US$              US$
          
Balance as at 1 January 2012        866,561  1,168,675    63,240         797,220      2,895,696 

Realisation of donated assets reserve      -      -      (9,486)                    -             (9,486)
          
Prior year adjustment- penalty waiver      -      -                -         174,894         174,894 
          
Surplus for the year                    -      -                -         800,806         800,806 
          
Balance as at 31 December 2012        866,561  1,168,675    53,754      1,772,920      3,861,910 
          
Donated assets         -      -        6,268         -               6,268 
          
Realisation of donated assets reserve      -      -      (7,785)                    -             (7,785)
          
Deficit for the year                    -      -                -    (1,385,281)   (1,385,281)
          
Balance as at 31 December 2013        866,561  1,168,675     52,237        387,639      2,475,112 

          

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES 

Non 
distributable

reserve
Accumulated 

surplus

Donated 
assets 

  reserve 
Revaluation 

reserve 
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for the year ended 31 December 2013      
     
                     2013            2012
        Note  US$  US$
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
     
(Deficit)/surplus for the year                     (1,385,281)       800,806 
     
Adjustments for:-     
Depreciation of property and equipment                   356,791        260,888 
Realisation of donated assets                (7,785)         (9,486)
Loss on disposal of asset              -     886 
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital       (1,036,275)    1,053,094 
     
Working capital changes     
Decrease/(increase) in inventories              195,721        (99,231)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables            453,946      (835,049)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables            341,462        (34,267)
Net cash (utilised)/generated from operating activities            (45,146)         84,547 
     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Additions to property and equipment             (99,204)     (662,703)
Proceeds from disposal of assets             -              8,713 
Net cash utilised in investing activities            (99,204)     (653,990)
     
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS          (144,350)     (569,443)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR         186,247        755,690 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR                 14          41,897        186,247 
     

 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1   Nature of business
National Blood Company Zimbabwe is a not-for-profit organisation whose main activity is the provision of blood and blood 
products.

1.2   Currency
The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the United States of America dollar (“USD”).

2    ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. The policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are based on statutory records that are maintained under the historical cost convention as modified 
by the revaluation of land and buildings.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations (collectively IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).
 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with adopted IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires the Company’s management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s accounting policies. 
The areas where significant judgments and estimates have been made in preparing the financial statements and their effect 
are disclosed in note 3. 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

a) New standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2013

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations are effective for the first time in these financial statements 
but have not had a material effect on the Company:

 • Additional disclosures required in relation to information about rights of offset and     related arrangements for  
    financial instruments under an enforceable master netting arrangement (or similar arrangement).  (Amendment  
    to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:   Disclosure – Offsetting financial assets and liabilities)
 • Single framework has been established for measuring fair value of financial and non-financial items recognised  
    at fair value (IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement)
 • Amendments to align the presentation of items of other comprehensive income (OCI) with US GAAP. Name   
    changes of statements in IAS 1 have been made ( IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements)
 • Elimination of the ‘corridor’ approach for deferring gains/losses for defined benefit plans, recognition of   
    actuarial gains/losses on remeasuring the defined benefit plan obligation/asset in other comprehensive income  
    rather than in profit or loss, and not being reclassified in subsequent periods, and amendments to timing for  
    recognition of liabilities for termination benefits (IAS 19 Employee Benefits)
 • IAS 32 Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation -Offsetting financial assets and financial  
    liabilities
 • IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation- accounting for income taxes.

b) New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective
The following new standards, interpretations and amendments, which have not been applied in these financial statements, 
will or may have an effect on the Company’s future financial statements: 

-IFRS 9 Amendment to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Defers the effective date of IFRS 9 to 1 January 2015. Entities are 
no longer required (but are still permitted) to restate comparatives on first time adoption. Instead, additional disclosures on 
the effects of transition are required in relation to information about rights of offset and related arrangements for financial 
instruments under an enforceable master netting arrangement (or similar arrangement).
Applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2015.
As comparatives are no longer required to be restated, if an entity takes advantage of the relief there will be no impact on 
comparative information that is presented in the financial statements. However, additional disclosures will be required on 
transition, including the quantitative effects of reclassifying financial assets on transition.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Amends the requirements for classification and measurement of financial assets. The 
available-for-sale and held-to-maturity categories of financial assets in IAS 39 have been eliminated.  Under IFRS 9, there 
are three categories of financial assets: 
- Amortised cost
- Fair value through profit or loss
Fair value through other comprehensive income.

The effective date of IFRS 9 is still to be determined. The Company has not yet made an assessment of the impact of these 
amendments.
The effective date of IFRS 9, of periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015, was removed and left opens until all other 
outstanding phases of IFRS 9 have been completed. 

The Company has not yet made an assessment of the impact of these amendments.
-IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities- Additional disclosures 
required in relation to information about rights of offset and related arrangements for financial instruments under an 
enforceable master netting arrangement (or similar arrangement).

Minimum disclosure requirements, in a tabular format that splits financial assets and financial liabilities, are:
(a) Gross financial assets and liabilities under a master netting (or similar) agreement;
(b) The amounts offset under IAS 32;
(c) The net amount presented in the statement of financial position (i.e. (a) – (b));
(d) The amounts subject to an enforceable master netting agreement (or similar) not included in the amount offset under  
     IAS 32 (i.e. (b)), being those that fail to meet the offsetting criteria as well as those related to financial collateral, and
(e) The net of (d) less (c)

Applicable to periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014.
As this is a disclosure standard only, there will be no impact on amounts recognised in the financial statements. Currently, 
the Company does not have (and is unlikely to have) any enforceable master netting (or similar) arrangements in place, and 
therefore the amendment will not add any additional quantitative and qualitative disclosures.
-IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (Amendment to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets-  Recoverable amount disclosures for non-
financial assets -
 The amendment introduces narrow scope amendments that:
  - Require the disclosure of the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) only in periods in which impairment has  
   been recorded or reversed in respect of that asset (or CGU).
 - Expand and clarify the disclosure requirements when an asset (CGUs) recoverable amount has been determined  
   on the basis of fair value less disposal.
 - Specifically require the disclosure of the discount rate when an asset (or CGU) has been impaired (or   
   impairment reversed) where the recoverable amount has been determined based on fair value less costs   
   of disposal using a present value technique.
Application date is for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014.

As this is a disclosure standard only, there will be no impact on amounts recognised in the primary financial statements. 
However, the amount of information disclosed regarding impairment may be reduced.
c) Standards not likely to have any impact
-IAS 19 Employee benefits (Amendment to IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions-
Applicable for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014.

IAS 32- Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (amended December 2011 and effective annual periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2014)
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRIC 21 Levies
Application date is for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014.

None of the other new standards, interpretations and amendments, which are effective for the periods beginning after 1 
January 2014 and which have not been adopted early, are expected to have a material effect on the Company’s future 
financial statements. 

2.3 Revenue

2.3.1 Sale of blood and blood products
Revenue from the sale of blood and blood products is recognised when the products have been delivered, the customer has 
accepted the products and the collectability of the related receivable is reasonably assured. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of consideration received or receivable.

2.3.2 Donations and government grants
Income from donations and government grants is recognised on a receipt basis. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 
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2.3.3 Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis after taking into account the capital amount outstanding and 
effective rate over the period to maturity.

2.3.4 Other income
Income from procedures and tests is recognised when the procedures and tests have been completed and results have been 
delivered to the customer.

2.4 Financial instruments

2.4.1   Financial assets 
The Company classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The Company’s accounting policy for each loans and 
receivables is as follows:

2.4.2 Loans and receivables
These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They are principally made up of money market investments. They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, less provision for impairment.

Impairment provisions are recognised when there is objective evidence (such as significant financial difficulties on the part 
of the counterparty or default or significant delay in payment) that the Company will be unable to collect all of the amounts 
due under the terms receivable, the amount of such a provision being the difference between the net carrying amount and 
the present value of the future expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable. For trade receivables, which are 
reported net; such provisions are recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss being recognised within operating 
expenses in the statement of profit or loss. On confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectable, the gross 
carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated provision.
The Company’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the statement 
of financial position. Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits held at call with other banks. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

2.4.2 Financial liabilities
The Company classifies its financial liabilities depending on the purpose for which the liability was acquired as follows:

(i) Other financial liabilities
Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of the instrument. 
Such interest bearing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method which 
ensures that any interest expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried 
in the statement of financial position.

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.

2.4.4 Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or where they have been transferred 
and the Company has also transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

2.4.5 Impairment of financial assets 
A financial asset is deemed to be impaired when its carrying amount is greater than its estimated receivable amount, and 
there is evidence to suggest that the impairment occurred subsequent to the initial recognition of the asset in the financial 
statements. Impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement include cash on hand, overdrafts and deposits held 
on call with banks.

2.6 Post employment benefits
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are charged to profit or loss in the year to which they relate. 

2.7 Property and equipment 
Property and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the asset. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amounts or recognised as separate assets, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the items will flow to the entity and the costs can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss during the period in which they are 
incurred. Subsequent to initial measurement, property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

Annual depreciation is charged proportionately over the remaining useful life of an asset where its carrying amount is higher 
than its residual value. If the carrying amount is lower than the residual value, no depreciation is charged.  

Subject to the above property and equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis over the remaining useful lives as follows:
 . Buildings    20 years
 · Furniture and fixtures                          10 years
 · Motor vehicles                    5 years 
 · Computer equipment                  3 years 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. The residual 
value of an asset is the estimated amount that would currently be obtained from disposal of the asset, after deducting the 
estimated costs of disposal, if the asset was already of the age and in condition expected at the end of its useful life. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amounts. These gains and losses are 
included in profit or loss.
 
Impairment of property and equipment
The carrying amount of property and equipment is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Any impairment loss is 
recognised through profit or loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

De-recognition of property and equipment 
An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
use or disposal. 

2.8 Inventories
Inventories are initially measured at cost and subsequently stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, after making 
allowance for obsolete inventories. Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less selling expenses. Write downs to net realisable values and inventory losses are expensed in the period in which the write 
downs or losses occur.

3. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE COMPANY’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
presented in the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgment 
is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be 
material to the financial statements. Significant judgments include:

(a) Trade and other receivables
The Company assesses its trade receivables for impairment at each reporting date. In determining whether an impairment 
loss should be recognised in profit or loss, the Company makes judgments as to whether there is observable data indicating 
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the receivables.
      

 (b) Impairment testing
The Company is required to test, on an annual basis, whether an asset has suffered any impairment. Impairment loss is the 
amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the 
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The determination of value in use requires the estimation 
of future cash flows and of a discount rate.

(c) Going concern
The Company assesses its going concern at each reporting date. Going concern assessment is an area involving management 
judgement requiring assessment as to whether the carrying amount of assets can be supported by the net present value of 
future cash flows derived from such assets using cash flow projections which have been discounted at an appropriate rate.
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4 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT          
 
        
             Furniture and     Computer            Motor             Total
           Buildings    fixtures     equipment        vehicles   
      US$        US$ US$        US$ US$
            
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2012     1,762,577   277,615      137,660  232,598    2,410,450 
Gross carrying amount-cost      1,930,000   317,587      165,457  323,264    2,736,308 
Accumulated depreciation        (167,423)  (39,972)     (27,797) (90,666)     (325,858)
            
Additions            -     480,617        88,430    93,656       662,703 
Disposals            -       (3,919)        (3,810) (17,247)       (24,976)
Depreciation on disposals           -            999          1,461    12,917         15,377 
Depreciation charge for the year         (96,500)  (79,428)      (25,008) (59,952)     (260,888)
            
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2012     1,666,077   675,884      198,733  261,972    2,802,666 
Gross carrying amount-cost      1,930,000   794,285      250,077  399,673    3,374,035 
Accumulated depreciation        (263,923)      (118,401)      (51,344)    (137,701      (571,369)

Additions           -       31,687        48,457    19,060        99,204 
Donated assets           -         6,268       -                -          6,268 
Depreciation charge for the year         (96,500)  (81,995)     (95,503) (82,793)    (356,791)
            
  
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2013     1,569,577   631,844      151,687  198,239    2,551,347 
Gross carrying amount-cost      1,930,000   832,240      298,534  418,733    3,479,507 
Accumulated depreciation        (360,423)      (200,396)    (146,847)    (220,494)     (928,160)
            
            
Buildings with a carrying amount of US$1,235,827  are held as security for the CBZ Bank Limited overdraft disclosed in 
note 14.           
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         2013  2012
5 INVENTORIES        US$   US$
          
 Blood bags                 37,938          189,702 
 Reagents and chemicals             168,075          217,883 
 Other consumables               64,083            44,771 
 Immunoglobulins                  3,373          -   
 Donor incentives                  3,740            18,314 
 Protective clothing        435     987 
 Stationery                27,392            29,100 
                305,036          500,757 
          
6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES         
          
 Trade receivables            1,748,441       1,645,891 
 Less: Provision for impairment            (31,800)         -   
 Staff loans                13,357              4,226 
 Total financial assets other than cash and cash equivalents 
 classified as loans and receivables         1,729,998       1,650,117 
          
 Other receivables                30,400          564,227 
 Total trade and other receivables         1,760,398       2,214,344 
          
The fair values of trade and other receivables classified as loans and receivables are not materially different to their carrying 
values.         
          
As at 31 December 2013, trade receivables of US$1,716,641 (2012; US$1,645,891) were past due but not impaired. 
They relate to customers with no default history. The aging of these receivables is as follows:    
     
         Past due but not impaired   
      Total            Up to 3 months   3-12 months
      US$                US$   US$
    2013     1,716,641        1,129,828          586,813 
    2012     1,645,891        1,069,829          576,062 
          
As at 31 December 2013, trade receivables with a carrying amount of US$31,800 (2012: Nil) were past due and impaired. 
The debtors defaulted on the approved credit policy. The aging of these receivables is as follows:    
     
 3 to 6 months             -           -   
 6 to 12 months                31,800         -   
                  31,800         -   
 Movements on the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:      
   
 Balance at the beginning of the year           -           -   
 Provided during the year              31,800         -   
 Balance at the end of the year             31,800         -   
          
The movement on the provision for impairement of receivables has been included in the operating expenses line in the 
statement of income and expenditure.          
          
Other classes of financial assets included within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.   
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          2013  2012
           US$    US$
            
7 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES          
 
 Trade                834,797          508,479 
 Other              1,348,769       1,333,625 
              2,183,566       1,842,104 
            
8 REVENUE           
            
 Human blood products           4,447,909       4,263,283 
 Imunoglobulins                   8,308            18,088 
 Medical tests               844,466          656,275
              5,300,683       4,937,646 
            
9 DONATIONS AND GRANTS          
 

            
 Centre for Disease Control (CDC) PEPFAR Project            620,789       1,836,380 
 Ministry of Health and Child Welfare                         100,000          505,000 
 National Aids Council                                                  202,033          537,674 
 United Nations International Child Emergency Fund (UNICEF)                     -            299,592 
 Other donations                 86,864              3,304 
                          1,009,686       3,181,950 

            
10 OTHER INCOME           
            
 Interest income          315     101 

 Realisation of donated asset reserve                 7,785              9,486 

 Coupon administration             -            579,463 
 Sundry income                  37,489            27,713 
                   45,589          616,763 
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         2013  2012

           US$    US$

      

11 OPERATING EXPENSES     

      

 Blood procurement expenses              919,501       1,177,608 

 Branch visits expenses                15,674            19,743 

 Canteen expenses               137,208          124,967 

 Cleaning expenses                28,227            29,278 

 Co-ordination expenses             106,339               75,976 

 Discount allowed               -                3,817 

 Entertainment and presentation                               369              2,173 

 Fuel                201,468          199,425 

 Incidentals          626          -   

 Incineration and waste disposal                8,247            10,537 

 Laboratory expenses           1,141,531       1,231,436 

 Linen administration                  1,851              4,329 

 Motor vehicle repairs and maintenance           123,262          104,335 

 Public affairs expenses              274,685          136,461 

 Quality assurance expenses                38,499            59,704 

 Provision for doubtful debts               31,800         -   

             3,029,287       3,179,789 
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         2013  2012

           US$   US$

12 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES        

 Audit fees                 22,373            20,147 

 Bank charges                 39,485            38,181 

 Buildings maintenance and repairs               55,949          119,554 

 Computer expenses                   1,261         -   

 Consultancy expenses                24,310            26,996 

 Depreciation of property and equipment            356,791            260,888 

 Electricity and rates                69,732            83,444 

 General expenses                   9,968            16,295 

 Insurance                 44,132            20,316 

 Internet and e-mail             -         10 

 Library and reference books                 1,210     650 

 Loss on disposal of asset             -       886 

 Medical aid               212,195          183,082 

 Penalties                 19,403          224,621 

 Pension                           282,419          240,058 

 Postage                              26,899            48,944 

 Printing and stationery                27,230            35,796 

 Protective clothing         783              1,333 

 Premises rentals                 38,078            33,113 

 Salaries and wages           2,916,244       2,792,336 

 Security                   66,147            70,701 

 Staff and educational expenses                 6,792              5,064 

 Telephone and fax                83,759            97,955 

 Telephone rentals                   9,020            10,284 

 Training and seminars                21,408            20,412 

 Transport                 42,402            34,124 

 Planning information and research             210,111          223,109 

 Exchange loss                  1,760            14,157 

 Debt management                  2,649              3,174 

 Water                  30,528            28,467 

 Staff rationalisation               10,973          -   

               4,634,011       4,654,097 

         
Included in administrative expenses is a change in estimate of depreciation rates for computer equipment and motor 
vehicles. The depreciation rates for computer equipment and motor vehicles increased from 10% to 33.3% and 15% to 
20%, respectively. The effect of the change in estimate is an increase in operating deficit by $90,495 ($298,534 x 23.3% 
+ $418,733 x5%). Since the future asset values are not known, it is not possible to calculate the future effect of the change 

in estimate.        
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         2013  2012 
           US$    US$ 
       
13 FINANCE CHARGES      
 Interest charges                  77,941          101,667  
       
14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS      
 Bank and cash balances                93,445          232,931  
 Bank overdraft                                       (51,548)         (46,684) 
                   41,897          186,247  
       
The overdraft facility is from by CBZ Bank Limited and attracts interest at a rate of 28% per annum. The overdraft is secured 
by buildings with a carrying amount of $1,235,827 disclosed in note 4.      
       
15 POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS      
       
15.1 National Social Security Authority Scheme      
This is a defined contribution scheme promulgated under the National Social Security Authority (NSSA) Act, (Chapter 
17:04). Contributions by the company amount to 3.5% of pensionable emoluments limited to $24.50 per employee per 
month.      
       
 Contributions for the year                67,030            48,434  
       
15.2 Externally administered fund      
Pensions are provided for employees by a separate fund administered by Old Mutual, to which the company and employees 
contribute.  The pension fund is a defined contribution plan under which retirement benefits are determined by reference 
to the pensionable emoluments.      
       
 Contributions for the year               215,389          152,848  
       
16 COMPENSATION TO KEY MANAGEMENT      
       
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Company on a day to day basis.      
       
 Short term benefits              470,692          436,442  
 Long term benefits                35,035            29,725  
                 505,727          466,167  
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17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS-RISK MANAGEMENT        
   
The Company is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks:      
     
 1. Credit risk           
 2. Interest rate risk
 3. Liquidity risk           
            
In common with all other businesses, the Company is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This 
note describes the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and methods used to measure 
them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is pesented throughout these financial statements.  
         
There have been no substantive changes in the Company’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, policies and 
processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from the previous periods unless otherwise stated 
in this note.           
            
Principal financial instruments

The principal financial instruments used by the company, from which financial instrument risk arises, are as follows:  
         
 a) Trade and other receivables          
 
 b) Bank and cash balances          
 
 c) Trade and other payables          
 
 d) Bank overdraft           
            
A summary of the financial instruments held by category is provided below:      
     
            
 Financial assets                 Loans and receivables  
 

          2013  2012

            US$    US$

 Trade and other receivables           1,760,398       2,214,344 

 Bank and cash balances                93,445          232,931 

              1,853,843       2,447,275 

            

 Financial liabilities          At amortised cost  

          2013  2012

            US$    US$

            

 Trade and other payables           2,183,566       1,842,104 

 Bank overdraft                 51,548            46,684 

              2,235,114       1,888,788 
            
General objectives, policies and processes          
 
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Company’s risk management objectives and policies and, 
whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that 
ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Company’s finance function.     
        
The main risks facing the Company are credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk.     
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17.1 Credit risk         

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations. Financial assets which potentially subject the service to concentrations of credit  risk consist 
primarily of bank and cash balances and trade and other receivables. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are placed 
with high quality financial institutions. The credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited to contractual obligations 
by the debtors. The Company has also suspended credit facilities on defaulting debtors and now demands cash upfront. 
        
Set out below is a comparison of carrying amounts and fair values of all the Company’s financial assets at 31 December 
2013.         
          
            Carrying amount      Maximum exposure  
 
     2013  2012  2013  2012 
      US$   US$    US$   US$ 

 Financial assets         

 Bank and cash balances           93,445          232,931            93,445          232,931  

 Trade and other receivables      1,760,398       2,214,344       1,792,198       2,214,344  

                     1,853,843          2,447,275       1,885,643       2,447,275  
          
17.2 Interest rate risk         

The company’s exposure to interest fluctuations is limited to the overdraft amount. The company has adopted a non 
speculative policy on managing interest rate risk. Only approved financial institutions with sound capital bases are used to 
borrow funds from. The company borrows principally in the functional currency at fixed rates of interest.   
      
17.3 Liquidity risk         

This is the risk of insufficient liquid funds being available to cover commitments. In order to mitigate any liquidity risk that 
the Company faces, the Company’s policy has been throughout the year ended 31 December 2013, to maintain significant 
liquid resources.          
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments.         
               Up to 3 months Between 3 and  Between 12 and 
           12 months      24 months         Over 2 years 
      US$   US$   US$   US$ 

          

 At 31 December 2013         

          
 Trade and other payables         748,364       1,400,738         -           -    

 Bank overdraft            51,548                                   -           -    

                        799,912       1,400,738         -           -    

 At 31 December 2012         

 

 Trade and other payables      1,842,104         -           -           -    

 Bank overdraft            46,684         -           -           -    

                     1,888,788         -           -           -    

          

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2013ANNUAL REPORT46



18 MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL          
 
            
     The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so  
      that it can continue to provide returns to  shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.    
       
            
19 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS          
 

        2013  2012  

          US$    US$  

 Authorised and contracted for          -           -     

 Authorised but not yet contracted for          254,052          197,770   

               254,052             197,770   
            
 Capital expenditure will be financed using internal resources.       
    
            
20 CONTINGENT LIABILITY          
 
            
There are potential penalties of US$417,511 arising from late remittance of Pay As You Earn to the tax authority. Management 
is in negotiations with the tax authority for a waiver of the penalties. In the past the tax authority has granted the waiver after 
taking into account the importance of the Company in the health delivery system of the nation.     
       
            
 If the Company does not succeed, the full amount would have to accrued and be paid.    
       
            
21 GOING CONCERN           
            
The Company incurred a deficit of $1,385,281 during the year ended 31 December 2013 and, as of that date, the current 
liabilities exceeded current assets by $76,235. The deficit of the Company was mainly due to reduction of donor funding 
during the year.The Company also has a huge debtors balance amounting to $1,748,441 with $761,635 having been 
outstanding for more than 60 days.           
 
            
Management is confident that the Company will  start recording surpluses as the Ministry of Health and Child Welfare has 
pledged a grant of $500,000 for the 2014 financial year. The National Aids Council and the Centre for Disease Control 
have pledged $200,600 and $200,000,respectively. The Company has also revised the prices per unit of blood from $80 
to $135, effective 1st February 2014.          
 
            
 It is on this basis that the Directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.   
        
            
22 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE         
  
            
 22.1 Approval of financial statements         
  
 The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors for issue on 13 June 2014.   
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